IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MELVYN PERRY SPROWSON,

Appellant,

VS.

NO. 7367 Electronically Filed May 02 2018 04:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

ADAM LAXALT Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

Docket 73674 Document 2018-16706

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant, MELVYN PERRY SPROWSON ("Sprowson"), appeals from his judgment of conviction pursuant to NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015. Sprowson's judgment of conviction was filed on July 5, 2017. (Appellant's Appendix Vol. VI:1167-69).¹ This Court has jurisdiction over Sprowson's appeal, which was timely filed on August 1, 2017. (III:602). <u>See</u> NRS 177.015(1)(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Sprowson went to trial and was convicted of one count of first

¹ Hereinafter, citations to the Appellant's Appendix will start with the volume number, followed by the specific page number. Thus, (Appellant's Appendix Vol. VI:1167-69) will be shortened to (VI:1167-69).

degree kidnapping and four counts of unlawful use of a minor in the production of pornography (all category A felonies). See NRAP 17(b)(2).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The court committed structural error during *voir dire* by allowing the marshal to question potential jurors outside the parties' presence and excusing jurors based on their unsworn, out-of-court statements.
- II. The court violated Sprowson's constitutional rights by using Nevada's rape shield statutes to exclude evidence that refuted essential elements of the charges against him.
- III. Sprowson's convictions for unlawful use of a minor in the production of pornography must be reversed because they did not involve "sexual conduct" and because NRS 200.700(4) is unconstitutional.
- IV. The court violated Sprowson's constitutional rights by denying his request to call J.T. as a witness in his case in chief unless he could afford to pay for her travel, where the court was aware of his indigent status.
 - V. Prosecutorial misconduct so infected the trial with unfairness as to make Sprowson's resulting convictions a denial of due process.
- VI. Cumulative error requires reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 19, 2013, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Sprowson with one count of first degree kidnapping, one count of child abuse, neglect or endangerment with substantial bodily harm, four counts of unlawful use of a minor in production of pornography, and two

misdemeanor charges of contributory delinquency and obstructing a police officer. (I:5-8). After a preliminary hearing, Sprowson was bound over to district court on all six felony charges. (I:17-18).²

At his arraignment on January 29, 2014, Sprowson pled not guilty. (VI:1176). On March 7, 2014, Sprowson filed a pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus. (II:270-304). After a hearing on April 30, 2014, the court denied Sprowson's petition. (VI:1300).

On September 5, 2014, the State moved to exclude evidence of J.T.'s prior sexual abuse at trial, relying primarily on Nevada's rape shield statutes. (III:492-506). Although Sprowson opposed the motion and pointed out that the rape shield statutes did not apply because he was not charged with rape (III:507-514), the court granted the State's motion. (VI:1186).

On May 8, 2015, Sprowson advised the court of his indigent status by filing an Ex Parte Application for Court Approval of Payment of Specific Categories of Ancillary Defense Costs pursuant to NRS 7.135. (III:568-73). In a Minute Order on May 27, 2015, the court found Sprowson "indigent as his current incarceration has rendered him unable to pay for his legal defense in the instant case" and approved payment of specific categories of ancillary defense costs. (III:576-77).

 $^{^{2}}$ The State elected to stay the bindover on the misdemeanor counts. (I:17-18).

On July 21, 2015, Sprowson's attorney, John Momot, moved to withdraw. (III:622-626). On August 19, 2015, Sprowson filed a Motion to Proceed Pro Se. (III:629-634). After a <u>Faretta</u>³ canvas on August 24, 2015, the court granted Sprowson's motion and allowed him to represent himself with the Clark County Public Defender's Office serving as standby counsel. (VI:1202).

On October 12, 2015, the State filed a "bad acts" motion to admit evidence that Sprowson violated a no-contact order by sending text messages to J.T. from a hotel in Oklahoma. (IV:715-725). After a <u>**Petrocelli**</u>⁴ hearing on December 10, 2015, the court granted the motion. (VII:1501).

A nine day jury trial began on March 21, 2017. (VI:1234-46). On March 31, 2017, the jury found Sprowson guilty of all counts. (VI:1246). The court sentenced Sprowson to life in prison with parole eligibility after 12.5 years. (XIV:3152-53). Sprowson's Judgment of Conviction was filed on July 5, 2017. (VI:1167-69). This appeal was timely filed on August 1, 2017. (VI:1171-74).

³ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975).

⁴ <u>Petrocelli v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 46, 51-52, (1995).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

From August to November 2013, Sprowson had a consensual sexual relationship with his sixteen-year-old girlfriend J.T. (I:111-120). They became acquainted with one another in July 2013 after J.T. answered Sprowson's Craigslist ad. (I:111-12). They initially communicated via Craigslist and then through a texting app called Kik. (I:112). On August 1, 2013, J.T. agreed to be Sprowson's "girlfriend". (I:112). Thereafter, J.T. sent Sprowson some nude and semi-nude photographs because they both "wanted to".⁵ (I:112-13).

At some point, J.T. asked Sprowson if she could sleep over at his house and he agreed to pick her up and drive her home with him. (I:114). J.T. got permission from her mom to spend two nights at her friend Jessica's house, but instead spent those nights with Sprowson. (I:114). During their sleepover, J.T. and Sprowson had intercourse once or twice without a condom. (I:114). Sprowson gave J.T. a diamond promise ring to solidify their relationship. (I:114).

When J.T. returned home, her mom saw the ring and became suspicious. (I:114-15). J.T. lied about where the ring came from, but her mom did not believe her. (I:114). J.T.'s mom confiscated the ring, along

⁵ These photographs and the related pornography charges will be discussed in greater detail in **Section III**, <u>infra</u>.

with J.T.'s phone and computer, but J.T. found a way to keep in touch with Sprowson. (I:114-15). J.T. told her mom she needed the computer for a project, but instead e-mailed Sprowson and told him come pick her up. (I:115).

When questioned at the preliminary hearing by Judge Kephart, J.T. admitted she told Sprowson that she would kill herself if he did not pick her up. (I:146).⁶ J.T. grabbed her social security card and birth certificate, snuck out the front door at 3:00 or 4:00 a.m. and got in Sprowson's car. (I:116). When they got to Sprowson's townhome, J.T. told Sprowson to change his phone number because her mom knew his number. (I:116).

J.T. lived with Sprowson from August 28, 2013 until November 1, 2013. (I:116). During this time, J.T. never felt like Sprowson mistreated her. (I:118).⁷ Sprowson gave J.T. books to read and had "all kinds of stuff" to do at his house. (I:116). J.T. had access to Sprowson's laptop and was able to check the internet daily. (I:117,123).

Although–Sprowson–wanted J.T. to go to school, she chose not-tobecause she did not want to be found. (I:116). To avoid detection, J.T. did not leave S Sprowson's home when he was at work. (I:116-17). Instead,

⁶ At trial, J.T. claimed this was a lie. (XI:2410).

⁷ J.T. testified they did not have intercourse "often" -- maybe "once a week". (I:118). Twice, J.T. drank alcohol at Sprowson's house. (I:119).

Sprowson would take J.T. out for rides in his car at night dressed as a boy. (I:117). At trial, J.T. admitted she could have left Sprowson's townhome at any time. (XI:2426-27).

J.T. and Sprowson loved each other. (I:117). J.T. and Sprowson were aware her family was looking for her, having seen posts on the internet that she was "missing". (I:118). J.T. was also aware that a private investigator had come to Sprowson's door inquiring about her. (I:120). Although she missed her family, J.T. planned to "stick it out" at Sprowson's home until she was like "17 and a half" and then they would get married and she would go back to school. (I:115).

On November 1, 2013, police located J.T. at Sprowson's townhome and brought her back to her mom. (I:120). J.T. told her mom she "couldn't stop [J.T.] from going back" to Sprowson and that she would "always go back" to him. (I:120). When J.T. threatened to kill herself if she had to stay with her mom, her mom sent her to Montevista hospital for 10 days. (I:120;154). A few days after J.T. returned home, she became upset about "another boy" and "wanted to jump off the balcony because she couldn't use

the phone", so J.T.'s mom sent her back to Montevista for a month of treatment. (I:121;154).⁸

In a letter dated November 21, 2013, J.T.'s psychiatrist Emmanuel Nwapa, M.D., confirmed that J.T. had been committed to Montevista for a month because she "tried to jump off a balcony" during "an argument with her mother in regards to a 19-year-old male boyfriend." (XVI:3258-59). Dr. Nwapa reported that J.T. "had a history of promiscuous behavior dating much older men, some of them in in their 40s and others in their 30s" and a history of sexually transmitted disease. (XVI:3258-59). Dr. Nwapa described J.T. as "extremely impulsive" and "depressed", and said she had "mood swings". Id. Under the circumstances, Dr. Nwapa "recommended for her to go to a long-term residential treatment facility". (XVI:3258-59). J.T. subsequently received six months of inpatient mental health treatment at Willow Springs Treatment Center. (XI:2298).

This was not the first time J.T. had required extensive mental health treatment. In 2012, when J.T. was only fourteen, she met a 39-year-old man named David Schlomann while the two were playing an online computer game. (II:333,343). "Their communication quickly turned sexual, and the

⁸ Unless otherwise stated, the prior recitation of facts is based on J.T. and her mother's preliminary hearing testimony elicited on direct examination by Jacqueline Bluth. At trial, J.T. admitted that she was "telling the truth" when Bluth questioned her at the preliminary hearing. (XI:2292).

two exchanged nude photographs." (II:343)... J.T. sent Schlomann "photos of her topless, in her underwear, and of her face." (III:334). On April 13, 2012, Schlomann traveled from New Mexico to Las Vegas to have sex with J.T. (II:334). The two arranged to have Schlomann pick J.T. up at midnight after her mother went to sleep. (XII:334). They went to Arizona Charlie's, where Schlomann pressured her into various forms of sexual activity, even after she repeatedly said she did not want to and that she was experiencing pain. (II:287).

J.T. had a history of running away from home, having previously run away on three separate occasions. (I:128-29). Because of her traumatic experience with Schlomann, and her history of running away, J.T. underwent two years of individual and family therapy with her mother, who took J.T.'s phone and computer away for 2 years. (I:129; II:287).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State did not want the jury to know about J.T.'s history as a sexual assault survivor and runaway who'd dated several men in their 30's and 40's, because those facts undermined its theory that Sprowson enticed J.T. to leave her family and caused her substantial mental harm. The court violated Sprowson's constitutional rights by using Nevada's rape shield statutes to improperly exclude this key evidence from trial.

The court also committed structural error during *voir dire* by allowing a marshal to question potential jurors in the hallway outside the parties' presence and excusing eight jurors based on their unsworn, out-of-court statements to that marshal. The court further violated Sprowson's constitutional rights by denying his request to call J.T. as a witness in his case-in-chief unless he could afford to pay for her travel, where J.T. was a key witness and the court knew he was indigent.

The State violated Sprowson's constitutional rights by engaging in a continuous course of prosecutorial misconduct throughout the trial. Finally, Sprowson's pornography convictions must be reversed because they did not involve "sexual conduct" and because **NRS 200.700(4)** is unconstitutional. Whether these errors are considered alone or in combination, Sprowson is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. The court committed structural error during *voir dire* by allowing the marshal to question potential jurors outside the parties' presence and excusing jurors based on their unsworn, out-of-court statements.

A criminal defendant has a due process right to be tried by a fair and impartial jury. <u>See, e.g., **In re Murchison**</u>, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955) ("A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process"); <u>McNally</u> <u>v. Walkowski</u>, 85 Nev. 696, 700 (1969) ("The right to trial by jury, if it is to mean anything, must mean the right to a fair and impartial jury"); U.S.C.A.

V, VI, XIV; Nev. Const. art 1, § 3.

In order to secure this right, NRS 16.030(5) requires that all jurors be sworn in <u>before</u> answering any questions about their qualifications to serve as impartial jurors:

Before persons whose names have been drawn are examined as to their qualifications to serve as jurors, the judge or the judge's clerk shall administer an oath or affirmation to them in substantially the following form:

Do you, and each of you, (solemnly swear, or affirm under the pains and penalties of perjury) that you will well and truly answer all questions put to you touching upon your qualifications to serve as jurors in the case now pending before this court (so help you God)?

NRS 16.030(5).

Additionally, the judge must conduct the initial examination of prospective jurors and then permit defense counsel to conduct a supplemental examination. <u>See, e.g.</u>, NRS 175.031 ("The court shall conduct the initial examination of prospective jurors . . ."); NRS 16.030(6) ("The judge shall conduct initial examination of prospective jurors and the parties or their attorneys are entitled to conduct supplemental examinations which must not be unreasonably restricted").

The Nevada Supreme Court "will not condone <u>any</u> deviation from [these] constitutionally or statutorily prescribed procedures for jury selection." <u>Barral v. State</u>, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 353 P.3d 1197, 1200 (2015) (emphasis added). "An indictment or a conviction resulting from an improperly selected jury must be reversed." <u>Id</u>.

In this case, before the jury venire was <u>ever</u> brought into the courtroom and administered the oath, the court advised the parties that the marshal, Jason Dean, had already spoken with the prospective jurors in the hallway to determine whether any could be excused from jury service. (VIII:1746-47). The court explained, "So Jason's already gone out there, given them the general speech about all the things that won't get them out of jury duty, and there are some individuals who have indicated that they may have reasons for getting out of jury duty which comply with the court's rules." (VIII:1747).

The court then proceeded to discuss the unsworn responses of eleven prospective jurors and make determinations regarding whether those jurors could remain in the venire. (VIII:1747-57). Jason's conversation with the jurors addressed potential conflicts of interest and the jurors' qualifications to serve. In this regard, Jason informed the court (who then informed the parties) that Juror No. 631 was concerned she might have a "conflict" with the judge because the two used to work together at State Farm Insurance Company. (VIII:1747). Jason also informed the court that Juror No. 788

was apparently "not a U.S. citizen" although no one verified that this was actually the case. (VIII:1755).

All told, the court dismissed eight jurors during this improper procedure, including three jurors that Sprowson objected to dismissing. (VIII:1746-57). Sprowson advised the court that he wanted to "keep" Juror No. 725; however, the court stated that the juror would have to be let go due to his pre-planned travel arrangements. (VIII:1753-54). In doing so, the court never confirmed, under oath, that the juror's travel arrangements would actually conflict with trial.

Sprowson also opposed the dismissal of Juror 788; however, the court dismissed that juror before the parties could confirm, under oath, that she was ineligible to serve:

THE COURT: All right. We'll send that one back down to Jury Services. Turning to Page 3, we have Tejani Chavez-Acosta, Badge 788. Do you guys see that one?

MS. BLUTH: Yes.

THE COURT: That individual is not a U.S. citizen. They cannot sit on the jury.

MS. BLUTH: Okay.

THE COURT: So we will have to send that one back down to Jury Services.

SPROWSON: I just want to -- that one's not qualified? THE COURT: No, you have to be a U.S. citizen

(VIII:1755).

Finally, Sprowson opposed the dismissal of Juror No. 809, who informed Jason that she could not serve on the jury because she was breast feeding her eight-month-old baby. (VIII:1756). Although Sprowson told the court, "I'd like to keep this one" (VII:1756), the court decided to "accept her representation that she's the sole food source for the eight-month-old baby" and excuse her from the venire. (VIII:1757).⁹ As with the other jurors, the court did not swear-in Juror No. 809 or question her under oath before dismissing her.

The court's *voir dire* procedures plainly violated NRS 16.030(5), NRS 175.031 and NRS 16.030(6). Before prospective jurors were asked any questions about their qualifications to serve, the court was required to administer the oath. See NRS 16.030(5). After administering the oath, the court was required to conduct the initial questioning of the prospective jurors. See NRS 175.031 and NRS 16.030(6). Instead of following these rules, the court delegated her responsibilities to a marshal, who asked prospective jurors about their qualifications to serve on the jury outside the presence of the parties and without administering the oath.

⁹ Although Sprowson subsequently made the offhanded comment, "she'll probably be distracted anyways. I agree" (VIII:1757), the fact that he objected <u>prior</u> to the court's ruling preserved this issue for appellate review.

Sprowson has no way of knowing what the court's marshal told prospective jurors in the hallway or what questions he asked to elicit the information that was later conveyed in court. Sprowson had to accept the marshal's representations to the court about what the jurors told him about their ability to serve. The court dismissed eight of those jurors based <u>solely</u> on their out-of-court statements to the marshal. Sprowson never had an opportunity to see the jurors or listen to them before decisions were made to remove them from the panel. The court's failure to comply with **NRS 16.030(5)**, **NRS 175.031** and **NRS 16.030(6)** was a structural error that requires reversal. <u>See Barral</u>, 353 P.3d at 1200.¹⁰

Whether the court's actions in this case constituted structural error is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. <u>Id</u>. at 1198. As this Court explained in <u>Barral</u>, trial errors that violate a defendant's right to an impartial jury are "structural errors" requiring automatic reversal without a showing of prejudice. <u>Id</u>. at 1198-99 (citing, inter alia, <u>Peters v. Kiff</u>, 407

¹⁰ The court also violated **NRS 16.030(5)** *after* the jury venire entered the courtroom. Without giving the oath required by **NRS 16.030(5)**, the court asked if the jurors had "any type of physical limitation that could affect what we need to do in this case". (VIII:1772-75). Several jurors responded before the court administered the oath. (VIII:1772-75,1781). Thereafter, the court did not re-address any of the questions that were asked prior to the oath being given. (VIII:1781-1840;IX:1870-2003;X:2024-93). A similar error occurred in **Cazares v. State**, Case No. 71728, currently pending before this Court.

U.S. 493, 502 (1972); Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 545 (1965); and Mayberry v. Pennsylvania, 400 U.S. 455, 465–66 (1971)).

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