IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MELVYN PERRY SPROWSON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 31 2018 02:06 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 73674

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009285 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, not less than 5 judicial days before trial or at such other time as the court directs:
- (a) If the defendant will be tried for one or more offenses that are punishable as a gross misdemeanor or felony:
- (1) The defendant shall file and serve upon the prosecuting attorney a written notice containing the names and last known addresses of all witnesses the defendant intends to call during the case in chief of the defendant; and
- (2) The prosecuting attorney shall file and serve upon the defendant a written notice containing the names and last known addresses of all witnesses the prosecuting attorney intends to call during the case in chief of the State.

Appellant now claims that because he was indigent, the district court should have *sua sponte* paid the required expenses for J.T. to appear as a witness in his case-in-chief after he failed to provide notice of her testimony. AOB, 48-51. This is without merit and this claim should be denied.

On the third day of trial Appellant informed the district court and the State that he wanted J.T. to appear as a witness in his case-in-chief. 10AA2012. At first the court thought he wanted to do so simply so he could engage in a direct examination and not be bound by the rules of cross-examination. <u>Id.</u> at 2011-12. The State agreed to allow Appellant to exceed the scope of its direct examination so long as the information sought was relevant. <u>Id.</u> However, Appellant explained, he

wanted more time to prepare. Id. at 2012. The State objected because he did not provide a list of witnesses, and it argued that Appellant had sufficient time to prepare given the length the trial had been pending. Id. at 2012, 2014. The court then informed Appellant that he was responsible for the financial aspect of getting witnesses to court, and that regardless of his self-representation he was required to follow the rules regarding expenses and subpoenas. Id. at 2012-2014. Rather than make a motion for his expenses to be provided by the court, Appellant chose to complain about how difficult it was to represent himself. Id. at 2015-16. Appellant never requested that the court provide travel expenses for his witness, yet now seems to think the district court should have simply volunteered to do so. He claims that because he was awarded "reasonable costs" associated with his defense, the court should have *sua sponte* volunteered to cover the last-minute travel expenses of a witness who had not been noticed. A reasonable cost related to this witness would have been to prepare for trial, notice her as a witness, subpoena her, and make the necessary travel arrangements. Instead, Appellant simply showed up to court on the third day of trial, stated that he needed more time to prepare for her (after trial had been pending for four years), and that he wanted her there for his case-in-chief. Appellant fulfilled none of the requirements for obtaining a witness, and it was not the responsibility of the district court to volunteer to cover the costs associated with Appellant's lack of diligence.

Moreover, Appellant had an opportunity to conduct meaningful cross-examination of the victim. Indeed, recognizing Appellant's pro se status, the State agreed to not object to Appellant exceeding the scope of its direct examination in order to allow him as much access to the witness as possible. In light of the fact that Appellant failed to prepare in any way to present J.T. as a witness in his case in chief, the opportunity to not be bound by the rules of evidence and examination and to be allowed to go outside the scope of direct in order to fully engage with J.T. was eminently reasonable.

Although the State and the district court attempted to make modifications in light of the fact that Appellant was representing himself, he was nonetheless required to follow the necessary law and procedures. That he failed to do so, and the district court did not *sua sponte* fix his mistakes, is not error on behalf of the court and this claim should be denied.

V. THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Claims of prosecutorial misconduct are analyzed under a two-step analysis. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court determines if the conduct was improper. Id. Second, the Court determines whether misconduct warrants reversal. Id. As to the first factor, argument is not misconduct unless "the remarks ... were 'patently prejudicial."

Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (quoting, Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859

P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument, ... made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting, Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. Williams v. State, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018-19, 945 P.2d 438, 444-45 (1997), receded from on other grounds by Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

With respect to the second step, reversal is not warranted if the misconduct was harmless error, which depends on whether it was of constitutional dimension. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. Error of a constitutional dimension requires impermissible comment on the exercise of a specific constitutional right, or if in light of the proceedings as a whole, the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Id. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477. If the error is not of a constitutional dimension, reversal will only occur if the error substantially affected the jury's verdict. Id..

Importantly, a defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one, and therefore "a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone[.]" <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Leonard</u>, 117 Nev. at 81, 17 P.3d at 414. "[W]here evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even aggravated prosecutorial

P.3d 569, 572 (2004) (*citing* King v. State, 116 Nev. 349, 356, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176 (2000)). In determining prejudice, this Court considers whether a comment had: (1) a prejudicial impact on the verdict when considered in the context of the trial as a whole; or (2) seriously affects the integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. Rose, 123 Nev. at 208-209, 163 P.3d at 418.

Here, Appellant claims the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct due to statements made during voir dire, allegedly using a juror to educate the jury, and allegedly commenting on Appellant's constitutional rights. Each of these claims is without merit.

Regarding voir dire, Appellant complains because the State gave the jury an introduction to the case before jury selection began, as requested by the judge. AOB, 53-55. As an initial matter, Appellant did not object to the State's introduction and therefore this matter is not preserved for appellate review. This Court has consistently reaffirmed that "[t]he failure to specifically object on the grounds urged on appeal preclude[s] appellate consideration on the grounds not raised below." Pantano v. State, 122 Nev. 782, 795 n. 28, 138 P.3d 477, 486 n. 28 (2006) (quotation omitted). Moreover, appellate review requires that the district court be given a chance to rule on the legal and constitutional questions involved. Lizotte v. State, 102 Nev. 238, 239-40, 720 P.2d 1212, 1214 (1986). Where an appellant fails

State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). In order to demonstrate plain error, Appellant must show that: (1) there was an error; (2) that the error was plain; and (3) that the error affected his substantial rights. <u>Id.</u>; see also NRS 178.602. To show that an error affected his substantial rights, a defendant must demonstrate "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Id. Appellant has failed to do so here.

When the State objected to Appellant's introduction and the district court sustained the objection, Appellant argued with the court regarding its ruling. 8AA1780. He now claims this Court should construe that as an objection to the State's introduction. AOB, 55. However, the record is clear that he did not see anything wrong with the State's introduction, he was instead unhappy that he could not exceed the bounds of introduction and engage in argument. Because of that, this claim should be reviewed only for plain error.

Appellant has included verbatim the section of the State's introduction to which he now objects. A plain reading of the State's introduction shows no "highly inflammatory language," other than describing what is a highly inflammatory act. The State did not present any argument, but rather told the jury what the case was about. Specifically, that Appellant and the victim met online, they entered a dating relationship, Appellant caused J.T. to take and send nude and sexually explicit photos, Appellant picked J.T. up from the family home one night and took her to

live at his house for about nine weeks while her family searched for her, and that while there she was not able to contact anyone or go to school, and that she was caused to perform sexual acts while there. The State was asked to tell the jury what the case was about, presumably to help them have an overall understanding of the proceedings. The introduction also serves to inform the jury about the charges, including a limited amount of facts related to those charges, so that both sides may gauge if a juror is appropriate for this type of case. Appellant did not object while the State was presenting its introduction. When Appellant was given an opportunity to introduce himself to the jury, he did not tell the jury what the case was about, but rather tried to discuss specific pieces of evidence which would be presented and disparage the State's case. Appellant argued:

A lot of things the State has stated is designed to create an image in your mind to look at me as a person who has done horrible things. Now, keep in mind, when they say pictures of a nude person, the picture's not – or actually exhibits –

8AA1779. It was at that point the State objected, because Appellant was no longer giving an introduction or even an overview of the case, but rather was delving into specific pieces of evidence and arguing about the State's portrayal of him. Because Appellant had ceased introducing himself and had begun arguing, the court did not err in sustaining the State's objection. Likewise, because the State presented a

proper introduction as to the nature of the case, it did not engage in prosecutorial misconduct.

Appellant next claims that during voir dire the State used its introduction to choose a jury with a predisposition. AOB, 55. This is again unpreserved for appeal and should only be examined for plain error. It is furthermore without merit.

As the State explained to the jurors, the point of voir dire is to ensure each side receives a fair jury. The State and the jurors knew the nature of the case, and ensuring that there were no jurors seated who would not be able to overlook such facts was paramount. Rather than going through each charge, the State asked if any juror had a "strong reaction or a gut reaction right away" to its introduction of the case. 9AA1907. This is a question that is asked in almost every jury trial. It is an important question because if a juror is so affected by the charge that they feel they cannot be fair and impartial both sides need to know that information upfront. Appellant argues this was the State impermissibly seeking a commitment from the jurors, however, it is clear from the record that the State did not seek a commitment from the jurors. Instead, the State wished to find out if any of the jurors could not overcome their bias regarding the facts of the case. This was not prosecutorial misconduct, but was instead proper voir dire in order to guarantee a fair jury. Accordingly, this claim is without merit and should be denied.

Appellant also, in a footnote, discusses some comments the jurors made regarding their initial reaction. AOB, 56. To the extent Appellant intends to imply that he did not receive an unbiased jury, this is without merit. Juror 607, Ms. Rafferty, said she had a gut reaction, but also said that despite that gut reaction it would not be fair if she did not hear both sides. 9AA1908-09. Juror 756, Ms. Jensen, stated that she had an initial reaction but that she would be able to base her opinion on the evidence presented in court and make a finding of not guilty if the evidence did not support a finding of guilt. 9AA1910-12. Juror 646, Ms. Cisneros, stated that she had an initial reaction because she is a teacher. 9AA1912. However, she stated that she does not hold teachers to a higher standard. 9AA1913-14. Juror 709, Ms. Silvasy, initially stated that she had heard of the case on the news and was concerned about whether she could be "true to the system." 9AA1917. However, she also said she understood that the media often gets the facts wrong and that she could rely only on what she heard in court. 9AA1917-18. She further stated that if the State did not prove the charges beyond a reasonable doubt, and if she had doubts, she would raise her concerns. 9AA1918-19. Juror 721, Ms. Peete, stated that she had an "eerie feeling," and did not know if she could be fair to Appellant. 9AA1922. The State acknowledged this type of case could be difficult to listen to, but that Appellant had a right to a fair jury. 9AA1922-23. Ms. Peete stated again that it would be difficult for her to hear the evidence, but that "[she] would try to be [inaudible] to be right is right and wrong is wrong." 9AA1923. Because she was willing to listen to the evidence presented and decide what was right and what was wrong, she was fit to sit on the jury. Juror 740, Ms. Thomas, stated that she hoped the charges were not true, but that she would not have a problem being fair to both sides. 9AA1924. Based on the jurors' follow-up comments, they were all appropriate members of the jury and, to the extent Appellant argues such, he did not have a biased jury.

Appellant next complains about the State allegedly "indoctrinating" the jury by asking a juror about grooming. AOB, 56-59. Again, this claim was not preserved for appellate review and should be reviewed only for plain error. The State asked the entire prospective jury panel if any of them had heard of grooming. One, in particular, indicated that she had and the State asked her what she knew. 9AA1986-88. The State was permitted to inquire as to the jury's knowledge and topics related to the case, including what they knew about grooming. Appellant claims this was indoctrination or persuasion, AOB, 57, but the State did not engage in any argument, ask the jury to made any findings, or present improper evidence. The State asked a juror about knowledge she had regarding a topic that might come up. It was not improper, and certainly not plainly so.

Appellant further complains that the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct by using the juror's definition of grooming during closing. AOB, 58. The State did mention in closing that a juror had given a definition of grooming.

14AA3001. However, the juror's definition was essentially an example of grooming whereas the State's closing focused on the big picture idea of grooming. Compare 9AA1987 ("For example, a teacher might ask a student to stay after and maybe ask leading questions...then maybe compliment them") with 14AA3001 ("one of the school teachers actually gave us sort of a definition of grooming, of sort of getting someone and complimenting them, isolating them, sort of pushing, pushing the envelope a bit was kind of the discussion of it"). The State then asked if there was grooming in this case and made argument supported by the evidence presented in the case to show that Appellant enticed and led away the victim. 14AA3001. This was not improper, and this claim should be denied. To the extent this was improper, any error was harmless given the overwhelming amount of evidence.

Finally, Appellant argues that the State improperly commented on Appellant's constitutional rights. AOB, 59-62. Again, each of these complaints were not raised below and were therefore not preserved for appellate review. Further, they are each without merit.

_

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